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Jamie Roberts was born in Newport in 1986 and, during a glittering career, rose to the very top of his profession. He was crowned Player of the Series during the Lions tour of South Africa in 2009 and played a crucial role in the Lions series victory in Australia four years later. He won 97 international caps, experiencing Grand Slam glory twice with Wales, winning the Six Nations Championship in 2013 and reaching the World Cup semi-finals in 2011. All this was achieved while studying for a medical degree. His club career included stints in Cardiff, Paris, London, Bath and Cape Town. He is widely regarded as one of the finest centres of his generation.


 


Ross Harries is the award-nominated author of Behind the Dragon, a complete oral history of Welsh rugby, and Bomb, the autobiography of Wales centurion Adam Jones. He is also an experienced broadcaster and can regularly be seen presenting rugby coverage on the BBC, BT Sport, Amazon Prime and Premier Sports. He presented the BBC's Scrum V and Scrum V Live for a decade, and continues to present the Scrum V International Specials during the Six Nations and the autumn internationals.
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Tomos, this book is dedicated to you. I hope you get to stand on the touchline and watch me play before I hang up my boots, and that you find as much joy in sport as I have.










Prologue


29 November 2017


My mood is as dark as the inky black sky, as the road unfurls beneath me. I hurtle eastwards, chewing up the miles between Cardiff and London, feeling like I no longer belong to either. The car is quiet, the radio silent. There is enough noise inside my head. I loosen the grip on the steering wheel, noticing my knuckles have turned white. I’ve never been so angry. The needle on the speedometer flickers into the red.


For ten years, I’ve been a gladiator. An international rugby player with a reputation forged through strength, fortitude and physical dominance. My battles have been fought in stadiums across the globe, under lights, against some of the most feared warriors in my sport. I bow to no one, and fear nothing. I’ve experienced unadulterated joy and crippling heartache. I’ve broken bones, torn ligaments, lost consciousness and seen stars. I’ve toured the world, climbed podiums and lifted trophies. I’ve shed tears singing my anthem, and felt my heart thudding in my ribcage as, time and again, I pulled those three feathers over my chest.


I play for Wales.


I played for Wales.


It was all being ripped away from me. Not because of injury, infirmity or poor form. I was being denied the right to play for my country by petty bureaucrats. Men in suits who had no idea what it meant, what it felt like and why it defined who I was.


Anger and sorrow are natural bedfellows, and when I wasn’t trembling with rage, I was crying softly. The road swept by, ghostly wind-blown trees and road signs visible through a tear-stained glaze. I saw the junctions come and go, the service stations pass me by – Leigh Delamere, Reading – each one a chance to stop, to reassess, to turn around. But I kept going, every passing mile feeling like a swelling ocean between me and the thing I cherished most.


I’d been recalled to the Wales squad for the autumn internationals, after originally being overlooked for selection. That was the euphemistic way of looking at it. A more prosaic interpretation was that I’d been dropped like a stone. After ten years as the fulcrum of the Wales midfield, a decade as one of the first names on the team sheet, I was deemed surplus to requirements. It had been a devastating moment, but my recall was a reprieve. A chance to reclaim my shirt, my status and my identity. The circumstances were unfortunate – an injury to my mate Jonathan Davies had opened the door for my return – but it was an opportunity I was going to embrace. Until it was whipped away from under my nose.


I’d been picked to face South Africa at the Millennium Stadium. The powerful, intimidating, granite-hard Springboks against whom I’d enjoyed my first start in the number 12 shirt, the shirt that became an extra layer of skin. The match fell outside the official Test-playing window, which meant clubs weren’t obliged to release their players. Those who played club rugby in Wales were free to play, thanks to an agreement between the Welsh Rugby Union and the clubs. Those, like myself, who played in England weren’t, unless they’d made their own arrangements. When I’d signed for the English aristocrats Harlequins, it was on the explicit understanding that I had full release to play for Wales, wherever and whenever the matches were scheduled. So what happened next caught me as unawares as a below-the-belt sucker punch.


They issued an ultimatum: report back to Harlequins for training on Thursday, or don’t bother coming back at all. It was couched in slightly more diplomatic language, but the crux was clear: play for Wales and you’re sacked. Imagine being offered the chance to do something you cherish more than anything else, but by accepting it you’ll be holding a flaming torch to the rest: your job, your livelihood, the place you’ve chosen to settle, the life you’ve carved out for yourself. All up in smoke. It was an impossible, emotionally overwhelming decision, but one I was forced to make as though I was ticking a box on an application form.


The farewell of my dreams had been denied to me. No ovation in front of a capacity crowd, no hundredth cap. No final chance to breathe in the exhilarating air of international day in Wales, to feel my quickening pulse as I stand in the tunnel, before being transported by the intoxicating churn of emotions as I run into the swirling cacophony that reverberates around the greatest stadium on earth.
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The Roberts clan


Monday, 22 April 1985


It’s approaching ten o’clock at night, and my sensible, law-abiding father is speeding down the M4 at 90 mph. The doors are rattling in the frame of his Ford Cortina as my heavily pregnant mother shifts uncomfortably in the back seat. My father groans inwardly as the flashing blue lights of a police car illuminate the road behind. The one time in his life he’s broken the speed limit. Mercifully, the driver overtakes him and continues on his way, leaving the road clear to the Royal Gwent Hospital.


Half an hour earlier, they had been standing on a footbridge overlooking the wood-chipping plant at Sudbrook Paper Mill. It had been juddering and vibrating, and as the guide was explaining how the logs were being sliced, my mother’s waters broke dramatically. Cue the mad dash from Chepstow to the hospital where, within moments of their arrival, my brother David was born five weeks ahead of schedule.


I arrived eighteen months later, and rather than learn their lesson from their fraught first experience, my parents took a holiday to Jersey the week I was due. During their stay an industrial strike was called by the union of ferry workers, and they very nearly got stranded on the island before the ports closed. Had it not been for a mad dash for the final boat to leave, I’d have been born a Channel Islander and would have been eligible to represent any of the home nations.


As it was, I was born, like my brother, in the Royal Gwent, making me a Newportonian by birth, though I’ve long considered myself a Cardiff boy. Ironic, given that in rugby terms Newport and Cardiff were mutually despised rivals. I was 8 lb 2 oz, nearly three pounds heavier than my brother, but by no means a big baby. My transformation into a giant would come later.


It was my arrival that prompted the move from Newport to Cardiff. The presence of a second child made my parents’ modest maisonette in Allt-yr-yn seem cramped and claustrophobic, and after seven months coping with two rambunctious young boys, the eldest of whom seemed determined to destroy the fixtures and fittings, my parents decided the time was right to upscale. In July of 1987, we moved west to a new-build on the northern fringes of Cardiff. ‘North Cardiff’ hadn’t existed a few years earlier, but as the capital was expanding, the suburbs were encroaching further into the meadowlands that had once encircled the city, and we found ourselves in a little detached house on an estate in Thornhill. My parents are still there to this day.


 


Hidden away in a drawer in my Auntie Pam’s house in Newport is a corner of Adolf Hitler’s desk. It lies alongside some pieces of war memorabilia, including a dagger and a few medals. It’s been a source of fascination for me ever since I held its smooth marbled surface in my hand as a young boy, but I still know very little about how it came to be there. That’s because my paternal grandfather, Percy Roberts, was a quiet man. He’d fought as a Regimental Sergeant Major in the Second World War, and found himself in the Chancellery in Berlin during the dramatic final days when the Nazis were defeated. Sensing that he was standing at the heart of history, he picked up the corner of the desk lying among the wreckage of the bombed-out room and stuffed it into his pocket.


He told my father next to nothing about what went on during the war, and me even less. As with most soldiers who’d experienced such horrors, he was reluctant to relive them, and probably thought nobody but those who’d been there would ever understand. My father said that whenever he’d tried to dig deep into my grandfather’s memories, it would be like a pick sparking off solid rock. He’d only ever scratch the surface. Families didn’t talk to one another the way we do today, but his influence has loomed large in my life through a phrase my dad coined when I was growing up: ‘Percy-verance’. Percy was a stoic, determined sort of bloke, and my dad was keen to inculcate those qualities in Dave and me.


Percy was Newport born and bred, and after the war he worked at the site that manufactured steel tubes for Stewarts & Lloyds. During the war years, the company had built the so-called ‘Pipeline Under the Ocean’ after the D-Day landings to supply fuel for the Allied forces. Steelwork was his trade, but rugby was his passion. Every Saturday he’d walk from his house in St Julians down Christchurch Hill, and across to Rodney Parade, with his colleagues from the factory. On the same terraces I now play in front of, they’d stand and swig their pints of mild, while lustily shouting their support for the Black and Ambers. When he was old enough, my dad would accompany them. As soon as the final whistle blew, they’d file out of the ground and amble over the town bridge to wait for the football papers to roll off the presses. The Football Argus and the Football Echo, or the ‘pink ’un’ as it was colloquially known, were still warm to the touch when they were published within an hour of the final whistle. An avowed scholar of the game, it wasn’t enough for Percy to have watched the action from the terraces. He had to digest and analyse what was written about it; to get the correspondent’s perspective. He was the only grandparent I really knew. Dad’s mum, Dorothy, died of cancer ten years before I was born.


Auntie Pam inherited the house on St Julian’s Road when Percy died, so it remained in the family. I spent a lot of time there as a boy, watching Disney movies in the front room and playing Monopoly and Cluedo around the kitchen table. Grandad was always a jovial presence around the house, and brought a real sense of warmth and fun to those games sessions. I vividly remember breaking down in tears when he appeared in the kitchen doorway one evening with a severely bloodshot eye. It was genuinely frightening and I thought there was something seriously wrong. It turned out to be nothing, but his health started to fail him soon after. I’ll never forget the image of my dad crumpled on the bed, sobbing uncontrollably, when Grandad eventually passed away. Dad was holding a Get Well Soon card that David and I had written to Grandad and were due to deliver to hospital the following day.


As a confused eight-year-old boy, I was incredibly sad and desperate for hugs and reassurance, whereas David seemed to process it more easily. He was far more emotionally detached than me, asking questions and trying to make sense of it. It was a pattern that would repeat itself throughout our lives. David’s the pragmatic older brother and I’m the emotional younger one, incapable of holding my feelings in check. For a bloke with an outwardly tough exterior, I have a very soft centre. Years later, when I was celebrating the end of my GCSEs in a Newquay nightclub, Dad called to say that our cat had died. I was so bereft that I left the club, slumped onto a bench outside and cried my eyes out. When the lads came to find me, they couldn’t believe I was so emotional over a family pet and, rather than offering sympathy, chose instead to take the mick.


My mum’s mum, Margaret, was more of a spectral presence in my life. She lived in Risca, a town a few miles north-west of Newport, in a strange house that lacked the warmth and conviviality of Percy’s place. Her relationship with my mum was strained, and there wasn’t much affection between them. She had an aloof, eccentric air about her, amplified by the presence of squawking parrots in her front room. She was a heavy smoker, and there was always a fug of cigarette smoke hanging in the air. Mum’s demeanour changed in Margaret’s presence. She became a little less warm, a little more impatient. The atmosphere between them was often as oppressive as the smoke in the room. As a result I never felt particularly close to her. My mother never met her natural father, so when Margaret died in 2005, all my grandparents were gone. To this day, it breaks my heart that I had so little to do with them all.


My mother Jackie’s upbringing was fractured and itinerant. Though she was born in Bristol, there was no one place she considered ‘home’. Growing up, she rarely spoke about her childhood, but when David and I left home, she wrote a seventy-page memoir reflecting on all of our lives up to that point, in which she spoke really candidly about her formative years. It was the first time we had an insight into what she’d been through. It was a jumble of vague and unsettling memories involving domestic violence, grinding poverty and being constantly on the move. A particularly upsetting passage described a memory of being carried into a car by a strange man on a gloomy night while another man sobbed and begged them not to leave. My mother thinks the crying man was her natural father, but she never asked the question and remains haunted by the episode. As a fearful, confused child, she was discouraged from asking too many questions.


Not long after, she has a strong memory of sitting at a table and being taught to write her new surname. She was struggling to spell ‘Proudfoot’, writing ‘fwt’ in the Welsh phonetic way, and was berated by her mother and new father for being slow and incompetent. For five years, she lived with her Auntie Val and Uncle Ted near Monmouth, referring to them as ‘Mum and Dad’. It’s not clear where Margaret was during this time, and Mum only has a single faded photograph of this period. It’s of her and an older boy painting a dog’s toenails. She discovered years later that the boy was her brother, Patrick.


When her mother reclaimed her, they moved to a flat on Cardiff’s City Road with another man, and a new sister, Heather. One night, tempers flared, objects were thrown and the man broke his arm. Details are hazy, but it led to Margaret moving into sheltered accommodation with the two girls. There was a brief reconciliation when they all moved to a place near Barry Docks, but this was short-lived and another sudden move followed, under cover of darkness, to a flat on Barry Island. The man would routinely come and bang on the door, and Heather and my mum would hide behind the bed. It must have been an incongruous scene. Two terrified girls cowering in silence while people were laughing, joking and careering about on the funfair rides below.


Several moves later, after her younger brother Peter had been born, the three children and Margaret settled in a caravan site in Newport, braving the freezing winter weather by wearing multiple layers and huddling together. When it rained, the reen next to the site would flood, making a loud gushing noise which kept them awake for hours. Food was scarce, and personal hygiene hard to maintain. Mum had to have her long locks cut off after persistent problems with nits. They ended up in Bettws, a notoriously rough housing estate in Newport. When Mum was living there, the threat of violence was a constant malignant presence. A police car was once set on fire, and a man was stabbed to death in the infamous Nightingale pub. At one point, the bin men were so frightened to come onto the estate, the rubbish lay piled up, uncollected, for weeks. The stress, anxiety and permanent sense of dislocation took its toll, and after completing her O levels, Mum made an attempt on her own life.


It was only when she applied for a job at the Passport Office in Newport that she discovered the identity of her real father. Needing a birth certificate to accompany her application, her mother reluctantly dug it out and the name in the box marked ‘father’ was one she didn’t recognise. Margaret told her he’d died years earlier, and any further questions were heartlessly deflected. She was told that what happened in the past was best forgotten.


Desperate to break free of her increasingly claustrophobic existence, Mum accepted a marriage proposal from the brother of a friend and left Newport to start a new life in Manchester, where she soon began to feel restless and unfulfilled. Losing herself in American literature, she hatched a plan to escape to the US for a road trip. Her career-minded husband declined to accompany her, and the eventual cross-country voyage with a bunch of Australian and Kiwi backpackers proved a defining experience. It led, inevitably, to the breakdown of her marriage and, after arriving home, she returned to Newport to start afresh.


Most of my mum’s school friends had left, so in a bid to meet new people, she signed up to the Newport Outdoor Group. A long-distance trek in the Grand Canyon had awakened a love for hiking, and while South Wales didn’t provide quite the same epic backdrop, rambling offered a sense of freedom and escapism. On a fateful Monday night in April of 1982, when she introduced herself to the group, she was struck by the alluring presence of a certain Norman Roberts. Not your conventional hunk, with his knobbly knees poking out of his camouflage shorts and his laminated Ordnance Survey map around his neck, he nevertheless charmed young Jackie.


Discovering their mutual love of the outdoors, they agreed to meet for a drink the following evening. It was a smooth move from Norman, but any credit evaporated when he was forced to postpone, having forgotten that Newport were playing that night. Fortunately, Jackie wasn’t too offended and they convened at the Newbridge-on-Usk country inn on the Wednesday instead. Norman’s chat-up line about owning every OS map ever published worked like a dream, and he persuaded Jackie to accompany him on a 26-mile ‘marathon’ trek that Saturday. She wore the wrong socks and developed painful blisters before the first checkpoint, but through a combination of stubbornness on her part and gentle encouragement on Norman’s, she completed it. The flame of romance had flickered into life.


Given Mum’s own experience, she was determined to raise us as independent and curious-minded boys. We weren’t going to endure the same suffocating control that she had. Our upbringing was to be a ‘social experiment’. Dad was rarely home from work before eight in the evening, so Mum had free rein. The house was always a glorious mess, with toys, games, books and dressing-up clothes permanently scattered all over the place. In those early years we took advantage of the long leash and drew extravagant, colourful murals all over the walls. Mum had been a mature student at Newport Art College, so the bohemian within her encouraged it. She also emphasised the importance of hearty, home-cooked meals, a position no doubt forged by her own experience of poverty and a frugal diet. There wasn’t a microwave in the house, and ready meals were banned.


We saw less of Dad, as he was the breadwinner in those early years, but he doted on us. If Mum was the nonconformist, arty influence, Dad was the strict, regimented one. Inheriting his own father’s disciplinarian approach to life, for forty years he followed the same ordered routine. Up with the lark, he’d get out the electric razor for a daily shave, don a crisp pressed shirt and head out of the door before eight. He’d climb into his shiny Toyota – itself a symbol of Japanese efficiency – and drive the same route from Thornhill to the ArvinMeritor factory in Cwmbran, where he worked as an IT manager. He was resolutely old-school: never sick, never late. Norman. His name couldn’t be more appropriate. It defines him. He’d always arrive home early on Fridays with liquorice and a bunch of flowers for my mum.


Norman kept a notebook in his glove compartment, and every time he filled the car with petrol, he’d note how many litres he’d put in and how much it had cost. He had records going back decades. To what end, I’ve no idea. Whenever my brother and I questioned it, he’d simply say, ‘It’s nice to keep a record.’ This obsession with detail has led him to meticulously document my entire career. The archive of newspaper clippings, TV recordings and collectibles he’s assembled could fill a museum. There are chests full of old jerseys and boots scattered about their house and garage.


Norman is the most sensible, practical man you’ll ever meet. On family holidays, he’d take us to the airport hours before we really needed to be there, just in case there was a crash or an unexpected delay. He’s always been very diligent with his finances and his record-keeping. His music collection is carefully catalogued and his paperwork neatly categorised into labelled binders. All his records and CDs have stickers on them so they can be easily found.


There’s no doubt I’ve inherited some of these habits. I’ve always had a laser-sharp clarity and sense of single-mindedness about my life. I too have everything neatly stored in filing cabinets and despise clutter. I’m a bit more spontaneous than my dad, who plans things years in advance, but I definitely have some of his traits. By Sunday evening of every week, I like to ensure my affairs are in order and my emails up to date. My brother is the polar opposite. He’s inherited Mum’s maverick spirit. He’s the kind of guy that will work his nuts off for months on end and never get round to invoicing for it. Growing up, he was always that bit more mischievous and accident-prone. We once had to cut short a family holiday in Pembrokeshire because he tumbled into a bed of nettles and was stung so badly that his neck and throat swelled up and he had to be rushed to hospital. Despite his more chaotic approach to life, David almost always lands on his feet. As part of his sociology A level, he wrote an essay the night before it was due, having done little to no research. Years later, it was still being cited by his teachers as the perfect example of how to write an essay.


 


Neither of my parents are Welsh speakers, but they decided to send us both to a Welsh-medium school. A common concern among non-Welsh-speaking parents is that their children’s English might suffer at Welsh school, but the headmistress, Mrs Whettelton, convinced Mum that the opposite was the case: that learning two languages at a young age improved your facility in both, and that’s before mentioning the cultural benefits that came with learning your native tongue. So it was that in September of 1991 I trotted through the gates at Ysgol y Wern, with my oversized backpack, to join my brother in the world of Welsh-medium education.


Mum enrolled on a Welsh language course at Cardiff University so that she’d be able to help and support us, but our progress soon overtook hers, and it became a convenient way of communicating with each other away from the prying ears of our parents, much to their exasperation. Welsh became our secret code. Mum’s Welsh has completely faded now. She likes singing Welsh songs but considers herself an English person in Wales. She’s even threatened to buy an England rugby top once I’ve stopped playing, and I’m not entirely convinced she’s joking.


It couldn’t have been an easy decision to send us to a Welsh-medium school, but they saw the benefits of us being bilingual, and Dad – as a proud Welshman – didn’t want us to miss out on an opportunity that had been denied him. The school was super strict, and you’d be told off if you were caught speaking English. I was once admonished for wearing an ‘English Heritage’ T-shirt during PE. Because I didn’t speak Welsh at home, I was the kind of kid who would rebel, speak English and get myself into trouble. It seems bizarre that this was happening only a couple of generations on from the ‘Welsh Not’, which was a punishment used to stigmatise pupils caught speaking Welsh. Looking back, it’s obvious that the Welsh language had been on the point of dying out and some kind of positive discrimination was needed for it to survive. Amazingly, it’s worked and the language is alive and flourishing once again.


I’ve always felt proud to be Welsh, and I’m proud to speak the language. I’ll speak Welsh to my children and encourage them to learn, but in the same breath, I don’t subscribe to the pseudo-nationalist notion that you’re less Welsh if you can’t speak Welsh. It’s a beautiful language, but I don’t use it much in day-to-day life. I have a few friends with whom I converse in Welsh, but by and large I live my life through the medium of English.


The school year was divided into two classes of thirty. You had the ‘Welshy Welsh’ – the kids whose parents spoke Welsh; and you had the kids who didn’t have Welsh-speaking parents – the not-so-Welshy-Welsh. It didn’t occur to me at the time, but I guess it was a form of social engineering.


Growing up in Cardiff is different from growing up in a Welsh-speaking heartland, where the language plays a much bigger role in shaping your life, your outlook and potentially your politics. It’s a cosmopolitan city, and virtually all my mates from North Cardiff – places like Thornhill, Llanishen and Lisvane – came from English-speaking families. The other kids, whose families had moved to Cardiff a generation before from places like Carmarthenshire and Gwynedd, inhabited a different world even within the city. They’d watch S4C and hang out in places like Clwb Ifor Bach, and their cultural references would all be Welsh. Me and my mates would be listening to the Top 40, and watching Neighbours, whereas they’d be listening almost exclusively to Welsh-language acts like Gorky’s Zygotic Mynci and the Super Furry Animals. So there was a subtle divide between those ‘pure’ Welsh families and the mongrel Welsh like me. I was hanging out almost exclusively with English-speaking kids and would only hear Welsh within the school’s four walls.


The school was on Newborough Avenue in Llanishen. We’d walk down Garrick Drive, round the field, taking a right onto Templeton Avenue before going through the lane to the schoolyard. If you were feeling adventurous you could go the long way and take in the sweet shop. When I started getting pocket money, I’d take this route more and more and blow my money on Fruit Salads, Millions and Coconut Mushrooms. My first major transgression came when I was ten, and I stole some sweets from the newsagent’s in Thornhill. When I walked in through our front door sucking on a Cola Bottle, my mum asked how I’d paid for it and I burst into tears. She turned me on my heel, marched me back and forced me to confess. With a trembling hand, I handed over what remained of my pilfered stash. I was mortified and continued to sob all the way home.


Pocket money became a running joke. My brother and I were always fighting, bickering and swearing at each other. My parents never smacked us and didn’t believe in grounding, so their only option was to withhold pocket money. We were so badly behaved at times that we racked up bans stretching for months into the future. Our only way of reducing them was through bribery and manipulation. We would play cricket in the yard, and Dad, like the character from The Fast Show, would get pretty competitive, often slugging the ball into the next-door neighbour’s garden. As the responsible adult, he’d be way too embarrassed to ask for it back, so he’d bribe one of us to do it by offering to reduce our pocket-money bans. Either that or he’d agree to buy us a couple of packs of football stickers. I’ve got completed albums from 1992–93, the first year of the Premier League, all the way through to 2002–03. David and I were avid collectors of the Merlin stickers and as a result, my knowledge of English football during that era is virtually encyclopaedic. I could tell you in an instant who played right back for Aston Villa in the 1997–98 season. Those footballers are heroes of mine in the way those of the present day never could be. Carlton Palmer retweeted me recently, and I was over the moon.


I used to tear my school clothes to shreds, coming home most days with holes in my trousers and stains on my jumpers. Money was tight, and my parents weren’t the type to shell out repeatedly on new things, so Mum would patch everything up, or repurpose one of my dad’s old jumpers that was vaguely the same colour as my torn, threadbare school one. There are myriad photos of me in my dad’s baggy old YHA or Slimbridge jumpers and wearing trousers with random mis-matched patches like some rogue character from the Bash Street Kids. That’s not to say my parents were frugal; they just didn’t see the value in forking out for new stuff that would be ripped, stretched and ruined within days.


 


My dad had a goal to visit every youth hostel in the UK before he retired, and would tick them off methodically every weekend. He finally completed his mission in 2012, finishing, appropriately enough, in Cardiff. Every weekend, we’d set off with the scent of adventure ripe in the air. Their love for the outdoors made the world seem much bigger to our eyes. We went everywhere: Cornwall, Pembrokeshire, Snowdonia, the Lake District, the Yorkshire Dales, the Norfolk Broads. We travelled the length and breadth of the United Kingdom. My brother and I would tease Dad, regularly pointing out that the Y in YHA stood for ‘youth’, but it didn’t remotely dampen his enthusiasm. The original movement was about encouraging young people to enjoy the outdoors, and my parents saw it as a great opportunity to travel. To this day, you’ll find them scrambling up Welsh mountainsides and trekking through valleys most weekends, still stretching the notion of ‘youth-hostelling’ to its absolute limit.


Those trips brought us close as a family. We’d cook together, and talk for hours, huddled around the camping stove under a blanket of stars. It taught me what to value in life. My parents wouldn’t spend money on things like school uniforms and fancy meals out, but they would happily splash out on experiences for us. We’d often prove useful accomplices on their weekend jaunts as well. Once, after a particularly arduous hike in the Quantock Hills, we returned to find the hostel locked and bolted. At that age I was lean and skinny enough to slide through a narrow letterbox-shaped window to let everyone in from the inside. The youngest member of the Newport Outdoor Group earned his Ovaltine and marshmallows that night.


As a teenager, the idea of spending weekends hostelling with your parents when your mates were out discovering booze and girls felt a bit nerdy, but looking back, it was a brilliant experience. Staying in dorms, mixing with people of all ages and backgrounds, getting wet and muddy while climbing the jagged peaks of Scafell Pike and Snowdon – it beat playing computer games from behind the closed curtains of your bedroom, and importantly, through the tutelage of my dad’s eccentric mate Richard Weeks, I built up an impressive vocabulary of swear words. On another occasion, my innocent four-year-old eyes witnessed a grown man sprint butt-naked through our group and dive-bomb into an icy swimming pool. It offered an early insight into the rugby initiations I’d later endure. Nudity and swear words. It was like having a temporary pass into an illicit adult world.


Camping was another passion, and we’d scramble together last-minute trips down the Gower Peninsula to make the most of any fine weather. We once arrived at Port Eynon in pitch dark, hurriedly erected the tent and, barely being able to see beyond the end of our noses, brushed our teeth with sun cream. I could still taste it days later. Every summer, we’d embark on an annual pilgrimage to Babbacombe in Torquay. My dad had bought into a fifteen-year timeshare in the Babbacombe Cliff Hotel, a lovely ornate old building perched on the cliffs above the beach. They’d obviously advertised quite aggressively in South Wales as virtually everyone who stayed there was from Cardiff and the Valleys: a little Welsh colony in Devon. Shockingly, in the fifteenth year, when everyone was due to get their deposit back, the hotel burnt dramatically to the ground.


The week in Babbacombe was dominated by sport. David and I would be in the pool before breakfast, desperately trying to beat one another swimming lengths, while Dad would stand timing us on his digital watch. Mum would be stretched out on a recliner, rolling her eyes behind her latest novel. Once we’d showered and changed, we’d head up to the local cricket ground to knock a few balls about, before continuing to the beach for a spot of crabbing. Even that was competitive. I had to catch more than David and would get pretty tetchy if I didn’t. From there, it was into Torquay for a round of pitch-and-putt and a few sets of tennis, before a detour back via the snooker hall.


It was no different back home. Every waking moment was spent outdoors, running, jumping and climbing trees. Dad would take us to Roath Park for kick-abouts with a rugby ball, encouraging us to work on our passing, dodging and sidestepping. He used to pit us against one another, timing us running in straight lines or around a track. For many years there was nothing between us. I’d win one race, David the next, and we’d spur each other on. We had so much energy, Dad would barely get a second to relax, so he hatched a plan to put rocks in our rucksacks so it would take us longer to do laps. That would allow him to have a quick coffee before we burdened him with our next set of demands.


As I got bigger and stronger, my victories against my brother started mounting up. When I was around thirteen or fourteen, the tables began to turn. Our wrestling bouts would end with me pinning David rather than the other way around, and he hated it. It rarely boiled over, but we used to fight really aggressively in the back seat of the car, and occasionally Mum would completely lose it. For the most part, she was calm and patient, but when the fuse was lit, she could explode and her language would get pretty industrial. Dad always took Mum’s side, but some of her tirades would have undoubtedly been a shock to his middle-class sensibilities.


The older we got, the less enthusiastic we were about joining our parents on their weekend jaunts. As young teenagers, we were allowed to stay in the house on our own. We promised to be responsible, but the minute their Toyota puttered off down Garrick Drive, we’d be on the phone inviting our friends over for parties. It was all pretty innocent – crisps and fizzy pop rather than drugs and booze – but things got a bit boisterous once and we totally wrecked the sofa. It turned out that it wasn’t robust enough to withstand six or seven rowdy teenagers jumping all over it like a trampoline, and it collapsed in on itself. David and I spent an hour trying to repair it with Sellotape and drawing pins, and we thought we’d pulled it off until Dad slumped into it that night, collapsing onto the floor in a flurry of splintered wood, flying cushions and spilt beer. The trip to Bath the next day to shell out for a new one was undertaken largely in silence.
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Great try, young man


There is nothing more evocative than the smell of frying onions on the terraces of an old-fashioned rugby stadium. And there are few better stadiums than Rodney Parade. My childhood heroes weren’t Wales internationals; they were Newport players. Newport was a successful club with a rich history – they had once beaten the All Blacks – but it lacked the glamour of a Cardiff or a Bath. Its image was one of a working-class underdog. It didn’t have the allure of those clubs when it came to enticing players from outside the city or its surrounding valleys. That all changed when an English businessman by the name of Tony Brown decided to pour some of his considerable fortune into the club.


The dawn of professionalism in 1995 led to an active transfer market, and global stars, once considered mythical beings from the other side of the world, started appearing in British and Irish clubs. Brown’s enthusiasm and largesse saw the likes of Springbok legends Gary Teichmann and Percy Montgomery lured to the Parade. They were joined by Simon Raiwalui, Shane Howarth and the Canadian cult hero Rod Snow. I can’t tell you how much I looked up to those guys. It was like watching comic-book superheroes made flesh, and they were wearing my shirt. The fabled ‘black and amber’.


Following in the family tradition, my brother and I would head to the terraces every Saturday and cheer on ‘the Port’. Dad was a season-ticket holder for close to thirty years, and still has them all labelled, laminated and stored in one of his innumerable folders. The match-day tickets are tucked inside the programmes and filed away in chronological order.


As young boys we were intoxicated by the sounds and smells of the place. Warm, malty beer, frying hot dogs, stale urine, the raucous chanting of the crowd, and the fuzzy yellow floodlights bathing everything in an ethereal glow. The smell of Vicks the players had rubbed on themselves when they stood close to you, the steam rising from the scrums in the winter, the gruff voices raining down abuse one minute and barking encouragement the next. It was an authentic, warts-and-all rugby ground.


The toilets weren’t even toilets, just bare brick walls and a gutter that led directly to the drains. Standing with a load of wheezing drunk blokes amid a cloud of rising steam was a rite of passage. It absolutely stank. I loved it.


This is still what it’s all about for me. I may have experienced the sharpest end of professionalism, and enjoyed all the benefits of modern coaching, but rugby at its purest is about standing on the terraces, pint in hand, with your mates.


The banter was brilliant at Rodney Parade. If a home player shanked a kick, missed touch or fell off a tackle, the crowd would get stuck right in. Whenever an away player was lining up a kick you’d give it the old ‘wooooooaaahhhh’, and there was nothing wrong with that. That’s how you’d exploit your home advantage. The reverence we show towards place-kickers these days has made it all a bit sterile. The Rodney Parade faithful has a reputation as one of the most vociferous and aggressive in British rugby, and it’s what makes the experience what it is. I was one of those kids shouting abuse at the players, albeit an octave higher than most of the grizzled factory workers standing around me. I have really fond memories of swinging on the barriers with my brother, lunging to catch the ball whenever a touch-finder came my way.


When the final whistle blew, we’d race onto the pitch, hoping for a fleeting interaction with one of our heroes. I’d chase down players like Ian Gough and Ceri Sweeney and beg for their autographs. I had no idea I’d end up being team-mates of theirs. It all seems so innocent in the age of the mobile phone and selfies, but my autograph book was my holy grail. I had one for every season, and you can guarantee my dad has them somewhere, numbered, labelled and stored away for posterity.


The blond-haired, swashbuckling Percy Montgomery was my idol. I bumped into him in Cape Town recently and regressed to the teenage version of myself, gushing about how much I’d worshipped him. I loved that closeness to the players, the opportunity to run onto the pitch and literally rub shoulders with them, and I fear that those threads binding the clubs to their communities are beginning to fray. We’d routinely take a ball down with us, but you’d always hope to nick one as well, racing out of the ground when one was booted over the stand to comb the streets for it and tuck it under your jumper. A proper Welsh match ball, handled by your heroes, was a real treasure; a collector’s item. Once our autograph books were filled, we’d spend another twenty minutes running ourselves ragged on the churned-up pitch, kicking spirals and up-and-unders back and forth to one another until it was time to go home.


 


You’ll most likely have heard of Newport RFC. You won’t necessarily have heard of Clwb Rygbi Ieuenctid Caerdydd. That was where my personal rugby journey began at the age of six. A mouthful for non-Welsh speakers, it’s become colloquially known as ‘CRICC’. The club was founded on the idea of junior-level rugby through the Welsh language. Back then, it was primarily a social affair. We only went up to Under-12s, and all the teams were run by the dads of the kids.


It was September of 1992 when I took my first tentative steps onto the rugby field. My brother was already in the Under-8s, so I went along too – to chuck the ball around with a bunch of kids a year or two older than me on the playing fields of Ysgol Plasmawr in Fairwater. Soon after, it became a regular Saturday-morning ritual. It wasn’t even rugby per se, just lobbing the ball about, playing touch and having fun.


Our fixture list didn’t follow much of a pattern, but we did enter a team in an Under-8s tournament at London Welsh’s ground, Old Deer Park. I scored a length-of-the-field try, weaving in and out of would-be tacklers before touching down under the posts. As I left the field grinning from ear to ear, an old man in a sheepskin coat and flat cap ruffled my hair and, in a voice that sounded vaguely familiar, said, ‘Great try, young man.’ My dad, hovering in the background, seemed far more animated about this than he’d been about my try. ‘Do you know who that was?’ he asked breathlessly, as he appeared alongside me. ‘It was only Cliff bloody Morgan.’ I had no idea.


I was voted CRICC’s Under-8 player of the year at the end of the season, and I knew full well who the guy presenting the award was. It was Jonathan ‘Jiffy’ Davies, one of the finest players Wales has ever produced, and one of Cliff Morgan’s successors in the ten jersey. So in the space of a season, I’d been praised by two of Wales’s best ever fly-halves. My dad interpreted this as a sign. He’d not played much rugby himself other than a few outings for St Julian’s High School, and the odd appearance for Norwich University, where a certain Andy Ripley was the star player. He was beginning to think he could live his rugby dreams vicariously through me.


I’ll never forget the day I was handed the trophy by Jiffy, and he gave me a proper manly handshake. It made me realise that perhaps I could do this. That you didn’t necessarily have to breathe rarefied air or be anointed by some higher power. Perhaps I could just practise, work hard and become a rugby player myself. Many years later I was invited back to CRICC to present the end-of-season awards, and they had a young kid called Rhys Patchell in their youth side. It wasn’t long before he was running out at the Principality Stadium. There’s a lovely sense that the baton is being passed on through the generations.
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Welcome to Rumney


The referee blew his whistle decisively as the scrum collapsed, awarding a penalty to the opposition. Within seconds the ref was staggering backwards, clutching his ribs and gasping for air. He’d been punched square in the stomach. Standing in the backfield with my hands on my hips, I had to blink to process what I’d just seen. Did that actually just happen? Our scrum-half, Craig, unhappy with the decision, had responded with his own form of justice: an angry, swinging haymaker. Welcome to Rumney RFC.


Craig was a chopsy kid, and a genuine hard bastard. He was a great player, but his ability was often overshadowed by his fiery temperament. Aggression oozed from his every pore, and he wasn’t the type to defer to authority. After the ref had given the penalty, he’d got right up in his face, snarling and gnashing his teeth. There was a bit of pushing and shoving, and then, bang, he unleashed the punch. It was a decent shot and the ref did well to stay on his feet. There was a gasp of disbelief from the sidelines, before the scene descended into chaos. While some of the parents would have been inured to the sight of casual violence, most would have been shocked. The match was abandoned, the incident investigated and our team was banned for six months.


Rumney RFC was about as far away from the warm bosom of CRICC as you could imagine. A run-down suburb in the east of Cardiff, Rumney is one of the less salubrious parts of my home city. Just last year, there was a machete attack on one of its estates that caused life-changing injuries to the victim. I don’t want to denigrate the entire area, but it was rough, menacing and edgy in a way that North Cardiff wasn’t. My parents’ reaction to the Craig incident was revealing. Dad was genuinely horrified, Mum far more sanguine. As she liked to remind us, she was a Bettws girl. In her more confrontational moments, she’d smack a clenched fist into her open palm and say, ‘You don’t mess with a Bettws girl.’ Growing up on one of Europe’s most deprived housing estates, she’d seen enough to put a punch on a rugby field into perspective. You can’t say I hadn’t been warned. At one of the youth training sessions, we were casually going through our warm-up when a police car rolled up, with its blue light flashing silently. I heard a whispered swear word and, like a bullet from a gun, one of the lads bolted across the field. It wasn’t his first run-in with the law, and he’s spent a good deal of time in prison since. As I say, edgy.


I’d gone to Rumney because CRICC wasn’t giving me the kind of competitive rugby I’d begun to crave. They didn’t have a proper youth or senior side, and we were lucky if we played three or four meaningful games a year. We’d play against other Welsh-speaking teams like Llandovery and Newcastle Emlyn, and maybe one or two other games in Cardiff, but it wasn’t a proper league. We were just there for the fun of it.


I was at secondary school by now, Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, and my passion for rugby had ratcheted up a few notches. My schoolfriend Andrew Carlson was a Rumney boy and he had enticed me and a few of the other lads down to his local club. My mum approved wholeheartedly because she thought it would toughen me up. A part of her enjoyed the fact I was moving to a rough-and-ready club and would be going through adolescence in that sort of environment. It was in stark contrast to my home and school life. When I turned up at Riverside Park for my first session, I felt like a fish out of water. I wouldn’t say I was a posh kid from Thornhill, not by any stretch of the imagination, but that’s how I felt. The accents in Rumney were different and the language much coarser. Twelve- to thirteen-year-old kids were using language I’d never dare to, and their parents were even worse.


The other boys were also far more aggressive than me. I may have had size on my side, but some of these raw-boned, snarling youths were nasty pieces of work: always scrapping, swinging and stamping on each other in training. I’d learned all about skill, balance and dexterity at CRICC. At Rumney I was to learn about smashing people, about no-holds-barred collisions, about pretending I wasn’t hurt when I was and, for want of a better word, combat. At one point, the coaches announced that all rugby training was to be cancelled and replaced by full-contact boxing sessions. For three weeks, we slugged it out with punchbags and sparred with one another until our lungs were ready to burst and our arms felt like jelly. We didn’t touch a ball the whole time, but we were much better fighters by the end of it.


There was peer pressure, as in any other rugby club. As a self-conscious, insecure twelve-year-old, I was wary of getting in the showers naked, and was ridiculed when I tiptoed in wearing my pants. From that point, I made a habit of showering at home. Mum would collect me, and I’d clamber into the car still in my kit, caked in mud, while she rolled her eyes in despair. I’m pretty sure she thought I’d been subjected to some humiliating ritual and scarred for life. The showers proved the least of my worries when I was exposed to the initiation ritual on my first away trip. There was no drinking of urine or downing of shots; you simply had to fight your way to the back of the bus. Literally. The challenge was to walk down that narrow exposed aisle while every member of the squad punched, kicked and whipped you with impunity. You just had to tense your muscles, grit your teeth and stride forward while pretending it was all a bit of fun.


I was a sensitive kid and struggled to embrace this raw machismo that seemed to characterise the club and youth rugby in general. I struggled not to cry at anything that triggered me emotionally, including pain. I broke my collarbone once at Riverside Park and immediately started bawling my eyes out. As you can imagine, there wasn’t much sympathy from the Rumney crowd. A few years later, on a youth tour to Butlins, the alcohol started flowing and things got ugly. One of the dads punched his wife in the face during a night out. I was horrified, naturally, but listening to some of the boys afterwards, I got the impression they thought it was fairly normal.


It was at Rumney where I learned to tackle. We’d experimented with it at CRICC, but there wasn’t much technique involved. Because I was bigger than average, I could grab kids by the shirt and chuck them to the deck, but it wasn’t proper tackling. Early on in my Rumney adventure, one damp Wednesday night, the coach introduced us to the ‘man-up’ drill. We lined up in a grid, with four corners. One of us had to stand in the middle for a minute, while each of the guys in the corners would take turns to run diagonally to the opposite corner. Sidestepping, dummying, shimmying or any kind of footwork were banned. The sole aim of the ball-carrier was to run into and over the poor sod in the middle. It was a man test: front up and tackle, or be humiliated. In the space of a minute, you’d be expected to make six or seven tackles.


Gareth Cutler was a big lump. One of those kids that relished contact. All he wanted to do was hurt people, and he’d regularly bowl people over, leaving a trail of flailing arms and crumpled bodies in his wake. It was my turn in the middle, and I looked up to see his menacing frame tensed and ready for action. I was nervous. As he thundered towards me, with the ground appearing to shake, I set myself, got down low and absolutely melted him. In one fluid movement, I picked him up, drove him back and dropped him on his backside, absorbing all his power and using it against him. It didn’t even hurt. It was like a nonchalant stroke of the cricket bat sending the ball over extra cover for six. Something about the timing, the execution and the outcome made it seem effortless, yet ludicrously satisfying. It was my first real tackle, and something of an epiphany. I can do this. It’s about courage, yes, but it’s more about technique. Like a sorcerer’s trick. You need the bravery to go for it, but beyond that, it’s all about the mechanics. I’d felt the sweet spot, the crucial shift in momentum, and it was magical.


If I could distil my entire experience at Rumney down to one moment, it would be that. It’s stayed with me to this day. They wouldn’t have put you in that situation at CRICC; they’d have been afraid of injury, or of someone getting embarrassed or shown up. The environment at Rumney was ‘sink or swim’.


 


Glantaf was a rugby institution. Former pupils like Huw Harries and the Robinson brothers, Jamie and Nicky, had all gone on to play for Wales, and I’d begun to fantasise about following in their footsteps. You got the vibe straight away that it was a rugby school. There were balls everywhere, boots in the old store cupboards, pictures of players all over the walls, and a rusting, creaking multigym covered in peeling paint. I may have been a tall kid, but I was pretty rangy and skinny – all elbows and knees, with little in the way of chest and shoulders – so I was drawn to this multigym as a means of bulking up. From year 8 onwards, a group of us would congregate there whenever we had a spare half an hour and devise little competitions. Who could bench-press the most? Who could lat-pull the most?


I threw myself into everything at this stage: cross country, athletics, football, cricket. We’d have regular inter-school athletics meetings down at Leckwith, and I’d want to enter every event. Sprinting, jumping, throwing, whatever it was, I couldn’t get enough, and I’d be devastated unless I came first. I dabbled a fair bit with cricket, playing for several years for Cardiff Cricket Club and the county under some excellent coaches like Kevin Lyons and Phil Harrington. My gangly physique was ideal for opening the bowling. Fast and wide was my speciality, and what I lacked in accuracy, I made up for in speed and aggression.


I wanted to be the best academically as well. I was on the maths team and the road-safety quiz team, and I took piano lessons. It all came easily to me. I was that annoying kid with my hand constantly in the air, straining to get the teacher’s attention. I’d race through a test before sitting smugly with my arms folded while everyone else was chewing their pencils and looking confused. I must have been insufferable.


The late Keri Evans was my head of year, and he was one of life’s characters, brimming with effervescence: a Robin Williams-in-Dead-Poets-Society type. He taught art, but his passion was PE and he had a whistle permanently hanging from his neck and a pencil behind his ear. He loved his rugby and appreciated its values of honesty, hard work and discipline. Dai Williams and Huw Llewelyn, known simply as ‘Gat’, were his two accomplices. Together, they were the three amigos, and easily among the most influential characters in my career. Keri, who virtually lived in his tracksuit, would famously award penalties for ‘dull play’. If you butchered a two-on-one, ignored a support runner or made a poor decision, you’d hear a loud blast, followed by the words ‘penalty against Roberts, dull play’, spoken in his sing-song Trebanos accent.


Huw Llewelyn was another character. He had a neatly trimmed goatee and ran the tuck shop, regularly entrusting us boys to take charge, knowing full well we were scoffing as many chocolates as we were selling. He was more of a forwards coach, whereas Dai Williams looked after the backs. Dai had played in the centre for Pontypool, so was a tidy player with a hard edge. In the finest tradition of Welsh nicknames, he was known as ‘Dent-head Dai’ because his skull had been caved in during a nasty collision back in the day. He was a tough bloke and would resort to a bit of old-school discipline when necessary. As we got older, he wouldn’t hesitate to get involved on the field, rucking and mauling as if he was still wearing the red-white-and-black hoops of Pontypool, often getting cut up and bloodied in the process.


As inspirational as Dai was, I couldn’t forgive him for later defecting to our big rivals Whitchurch High School, where a certain Sam Warburton would be tearing up trees a few years later. That match became something of a local derby, but we also developed rivalries with the strong teams down west, like Bro Myrddin in Carmarthen and Ysgol Gyfun Gŵyr in Swansea. Both were breeding grounds for future Welsh internationals like Ken Owens and Rhys Priestland. Glantaf were a mid-table kind of team. We’d win some and we’d lose some, but that Saturday-morning buzz was always awesome.


 


I got picked for Cardiff Schools at the age of fifteen, when my increasing size and power was becoming an asset. I had no fear when it came to collisions and the more physical side of the game. Tactics often revolved around giving me the ball and seeing what I could do. My Cardiff Schools debut was in the centre against Swansea Schools at St Helens, and half an hour before kick-off the coach casually announced I’d be captain for the day. I’d had no prior warning, but I was expected to deliver an address to the best players in the region. My mate Will Jones sniggered throughout my rather awkward, fumbling speech, which did little to inspire the lads as we fell to a crushing defeat. Swansea were a very good side, with a genuine talent in Leigh Bevan at full-back, but losing my first representative game as captain felt like the end of the world.


That first step on the ladder of representative rugby was when my ambition crystallised. I wanted to play for Wales, and didn’t see any reason why I couldn’t. Test rugby was no longer the mist-shrouded summit of a soaring mountain; it was something within reach. If I played my cards right, and continued to work hard, I could be pulling on a senior Wales jersey in five years. Call it confidence, arrogance or blind faith, but I knew I was going to run out at the Millennium Stadium one day.


Cardiff Rugby had an open day around this time, and I went and had my photo taken with Hemi Taylor and Jonathan Humphreys. That connection to these larger-than-life heroes helped foster my ambition. Being close to them and realising they were just human convinced me that what they’d achieved was attainable. That connection continues to span the generations. Arwel Robson, our young fly-half at the Dragons, was recently showing me photos on his phone of him and me when he was a ballboy at Cardiff and I was an international.


To my dad’s eternal disappointment, when I started playing for Cardiff Schools, I suddenly and callously renounced my loyalty to Newport RFC. Mere months before, as part of a school project, I’d declared my Newport shirt my most treasured possession, and put it in a Millennium time capsule. Now, I was ready to trade it for a Cardiff one. In my mind, I was a Cardiff boy, and that’s where my loyalties would now lie. That said, Nicky Robinson likes to remind me of a televised Newport–Cardiff match he played in, in which the cameraman cuts to the crowd for a shot of the baying mob underneath the East Stand. Among those hurling abuse at the Cardiff players is a skinny, baby-faced Jamie Roberts, clad in the black-and-amber stripes of Newport RFC.


Dai Williams approached me in training one day and said, ‘Jamie, you’ve got a good kick, you’re quick, you cover space well and can read the game. We think you’d make a good full-back.’ They switched me there and then, and I loved the new-found freedom it gave me. I loved the up-and-unders, loved kicking the ball as far as I could, and relished being the last line of defence. Whenever anyone broke through, I’d think, Right, this is my responsibility. Some baulked at the thought of being so exposed, but I took pleasure in knowing that the spotlight of scrutiny was being shone brightly on me. Most school-age kids just love scoring tries and the glory that goes with it, but for me there was something addictive about stopping someone dead in their tracks. Rugby’s a team game, but I loved those moments when the lens is narrowed and it’s one on one. You against the guy running towards you. That’s what I came to relish. Between the ages of sixteen and twenty-one, other than a few games in the centre, I was exclusively a full-back, for the school, for the county and for Rumney Youth. The one game when I realised it was definitely the position for me was a county game against Monmouthshire. In addition to my defensive duties, I launched three high, hanging up-and-unders and chased and caught every one. Running off the field that day, I thought, I’m pretty good at this full-back lark.


 


The next step was playing for Wales Under-16s, but I couldn’t dislodge Leigh Bevan from the first team, so I only ever got picked for the A team. It was the same Leigh Bevan who’d bested me in that Swansea Schools v Cardiff Schools game, and I worried I’d be stuck behind him for the rest of my teenage years. Meanwhile, my performances for Rumney Youth had been noted by the coach of the men’s team, Danny Wilson, and he threw me into the cauldron of senior rugby a few times to test my mettle. I must have done all right, because in early 2002, I was asked to train with the Cardiff RFC academy. Danny was also destined for bigger things, eventually becoming coach of the Cardiff Blues and leading them to Challenge Cup glory.


The hours I spent on the multigym were helping develop my strength, as was the paper round I took on. I was doing two rounds at once, carrying two heavy sacks criss-crossed over my shoulders through Lisvane and Llanishen before and after school. I came to resent Sunday Times readers because the amount of supplements it came with made it ludicrously heavy. My companion on the round was a tough, streetwise kid called Lloyd Jones, the type of lad who’d started smoking when he was thirteen. I was happy enough with my paltry weekly wage but he was always hustling to make extra money. Once he’d emptied his bags of papers, he’d fill them with stolen dust caps off cars to sell on to one of his dodgy contacts. One Christmas he came up with a plan to guilt-trip punters into tipping us. He knocked on every door to personally hand over the paper with a card and wish people a Merry Christmas. That would usually yield an extra fiver, and by the time we’d finished, our pockets were stuffed with cash.


My progress accelerated rapidly, and Andrew Carlson and I were soon considered the two best players in our year. As a result, we were invited on a school tour to Australia in 2002 with the year above. I ran home to tell my mum, unsure how she’d feel about sending her fifteen-year-old to the other side of the world, let alone paying for it. Her response was ‘Whatever it takes, you’re going. Don’t worry about the money; even if we have to go into debt, you’re going.’ Dad agreed, but encouraged me to raise funds for the trip. I set up my own ‘lottery’. It was twenty quid to enter, and the prize was £100, so if I got twenty quid from thirty people, I’d make a £500 profit. I packed bags in the supermarket for a bit too, taking donations to raise money for the tour. I was beyond excited about the adventure that lay ahead.


Australia more than lived up to my expectations. Seeing the iconic Sydney Harbour Bridge in real life, hanging out in Melbourne’s funky bars and snorkelling on the Great Barrier Reef – that was an unbelievable experience, so much so that one of my mates pinched a piece of coral, wrapped it in a towel and smuggled it home on the plane. I won’t mention his name in case anyone from the Australian government is reading this.


As part of the touring tradition, you get hosted by local families. Our bus would pull into a car park in some nondescript town and, like the testosterone-fuelled teenagers we were, we’d be scanning the families lined up to greet us, searching for the most attractive girls. One of the teachers would stand at the front and read out the list of who had been matched with whom. On this occasion, in Townsville in Queensland, there was a family with two unbelievably hot sisters standing with their parents. They were tanned, blonde and athletic-looking: the classic Australian fantasy honed in our imaginations from years of watching Neighbours and Home and Away. They looked unspeakably exotic to a coachload of pasty, hormonal Welsh teenagers, and everyone was silently praying they’d be paired with them.


Most of the lads were a year older – sixteen and seventeen – so I was one of the young bucks, as was another lad called, coincidentally enough, James Roberts. The teacher called our names together: ‘Jamie and James Roberts, you’re with . . .’ There was a pregnant pause as his finger ran down the list. ‘. . . the McKays.’ The two sisters stepped forward and the coach erupted. You can imagine the scene: a load of boorish Welsh teenagers whooping and hollering with a mixture of excitement and envy. In the interests of discretion, I’ll be brief about what followed, but that night one of the sisters sneaked into my room after dark. I’ll let you draw your own conclusions about what happened.


If that nocturnal encounter had swollen my ego, it was soon punctured during a boat trip to the Outer Reef the following morning. Rumours of my midnight fumblings had spread, and the rest of the boys, consumed with jealousy and a desire to bring me crashing back to earth, unleashed a barrage of piss-taking and abuse. Amid a relentless stream of tasteless jokes, I burst into tears. I’d become a man the night before, but had now been reduced to a blubbering mess by a bunch of leering schoolboys.
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More Carl Lewis than Emyr Lewis


My dad had had enough. With an uncharacteristic rush of blood, he hurled his empty plate at me. I jumped to my feet and swung at him clumsily with an open palm. To my horror, blood started gushing from his nose. Panicking, I scampered up the stairs, collapsing on my bedroom floor in floods of tears. I’d never felt so ashamed. What on earth had possessed me? We’d been arguing about something utterly trivial, but I’d seen red. During the past year, I’d been getting a bit cocky, a bit sure of myself. I was beating my brother at everything and my ego had started to swell. All of a sudden, being the biggest, strongest bloke in the house, I thought I was the alpha male. I’d had scraps with mates before, but I’d never hit anyone in the face like that. I cried for hours, and my parents left me to it, knowing it was the best way for me to learn my lesson. I couldn’t look Dad in the eye for weeks afterwards, and no amount of apologising was sufficient. It was a formative moment. I never disrespected him like that again. Dad was my hero. I’d always looked up to him, and in one senseless act of petulance, I’d risked driving a wedge between us. I was getting above my station, and I’d massively overstepped the mark.


It was the last year of my GCSEs, and my size had been getting me into trouble. I was suspended from school following an ‘altercation’ in the corridor, when a friend of mine was being bullied by a gang of rough kids. I’d stepped in to cool things down, but they were clearly spoiling for a fight and one of them took a swing at me. Instinctively, I hit back, and a few shots were landed before the teachers waded in and hauled us apart. My mother was summoned from work to take me home, where I was to remain until the GCSEs formally began. The official line was that the school was worried about repercussions because these other boys were renowned troublemakers and would be out for revenge. I was essentially suspended for my own safety, but it was apparent I was becoming a bit of a hothead, and my PE teachers had started to notice. Their coaching philosophy was as much about developing good people as it was good players. They had a knack of letting you know what was the right way to behave and what wasn’t. Fighting in the corridors and hitting my dad was definitely not the right way to behave.


 


While I was in the sixth form, my involvement with the Cardiff RFC academy became formalised, and the former Wales international Mike Rayer became my unofficial mentor. I saw a bit of myself in him. He was a full-back, a Cardiff boy, and he enjoyed a pint. Booze was something I was starting to discover, and by the time I celebrated my eighteenth birthday, I was fully conversant with the tradition of getting leathered in the bar after a game. I marked the occasion at Llanishen Rugby Club, where I was made to drink a shot of every spirit from the top shelf. Predictably, I was violently sick, and the nearest receptacle when the urge arrived was an empty pint glass. Less predictably, a mate declared he’d drink the contents if enough people donated a quid. He did a circuit of the bar and, deciding that thirty pounds was sufficient reward, made good on his promise. I’m disgusted to report that he did it with relative ease, and treated himself to a new pair of jeans with the takings.

OEBPS/OPF/toc.xhtml


  Centre Stage



  



  



			Cover



			About the Authors



			Title Page



			Imprint Page



			Dedication



			Contents



			Prologue



			1 The Roberts clan



			2 Great try, young man



			3 Welcome to Rumney



			4 More Carl Lewis than Emyr Lewis



			5 Three perfect thirds



			6 I was David May



			7 I felt indestructible



			8 An insufficient breeze



			9 Man of the Series



			10 Are you a rugby player or a celebrity?



			11 Performance, cocktails, injuries and layoffs



			12 The biggest regret of my career



			13 Grand Slam



			14 Defying the critics



			15 Hamstrung



			16 Parisian skies



			17 Broken bones



			18 The Burgess affair



			19 The beginning of the end?



			20 Disappointment and opportunity



			21 South African Sunset



			Acknowledgements



			Picture acknowledgements



			Picture Section

	

				Picture 2



				Picture 3



				Picture 4



				Picture 5



				Picture 6



				Picture 7



				Picture 8



				Picture 9



				Picture 10



				Picture 11



				Picture 12



				Picture 13



				Picture 14



				Picture 15



				Picture 16



				Picture 17



				Picture 18



				Picture 19



				Picture 20



				Picture 21



				Picture 22



				Picture 23



				Picture 24



				Picture 25



				Picture 26



				Picture 27



				Picture 28



				Picture 29



				Picture 30



				Picture 31



				Picture 32



				Picture 33



				Picture 34



				Picture 35



				Picture 36



				Picture 37



				Picture 38



				Picture 39



				Picture 40



				Picture 41



				Picture 42



	



	











  



OEBPS/OPF/cover.jpg
JAMIE RO

&

STAGE

BR[| Tl





OEBPS/OPF/titlepg_2line_logo_zoom2.jpg
HODDER &
HODDER &





